FLORIDA SUPREME COURT Case No. *Pending*

IVANA VIDOVIC MLINAR, Petitioner/Plaintiff,

VS.

4th DCA CASE NO.: 4D12-1332

UNITED PARCEL SERVICE INC. Respondent/Defendant,

LT CASE NO.: 50 2008 CA 036246 (PALM BEACH)

RECOVERY MANAGEMENT CORP. d/b/a CARGO LARGO, PAKMAIL OF WELLINGTON INC., and AARON ANDERSON, Defendants.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF OPINION OF FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CERTIFYING CONFLICT WITH FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND AFFIRMING FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

SEARCY DENNEY SCAROLA	LAW OFFICES OF SHANNON	
BARNHART & SHIPLEY, P.A.	MAHONEY, PA

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiff/Appellant Ivana Vidovic Mlinar is referred to as "Petitioner." Appellee/Defendant United Parcel Service Inc. is referred to as "UPS." Defendant Recovery Management Corp. d/b/a Cargo Largo is referred to as "Cargo Largo." The present opinion is attached as the sole Appendix as required by Fla. R. App. P. 9.120. The Fourth District Court of Appeal (authored by Judge C. Taylor and noting concurrence without separate opinion by Judge J. Ciklin and Associate Judge Michael Robinson) was the second opinion rendered in the matter on December 4, 2013, vacating a prior opinion. It granted Plaintiff's Motion for Certification of conflict with *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), but denied a motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc, affirming dismissal of the claims.

STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioner appealed the Final Order rendered by the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Florida in and for Palm Beach County on January 30, 2012, which dismissed all four claims alleged against UPS with prejudice including (i.) Conversion, (ii.) Conspiracy (pursuant to Florida Statutes, chapter 772), (iii.) Misappropriation of identity (pursuant to section 540.08 of Florida Statutes) and (iv) a putative class action for fraudulent and deceptive trade practice (pursuant to

The claims include that UPS and co-Section 817.02 of Florida Statutes). defendant Cargo Largo were engaged in a conspiracy through which UPS purposely diverts goods to Cargo Largo to be sold as lost goods. The allegations included that UPS perpetuated this scheme by luring customers to third-party retailers, such as Pak Mail and the UPS Store. UPS's contracts with these thirdparty retailers allow it to give these customers a tracking number and require the retailer to use UPS as a preferred carrier, but both the third party contracts and the UPS Carmack-required tariffs state that UPS does not accept any liability for lost or damaged goods, as UPS contends such customers are not shippers and refuses to store or to track the customer's information. This procedure virtually guarantees its wholesaler, Cargo Largo, a steady stream of valuable but unclaimed "lost" goods. Petitioner alleges that she fell prey to this scheme when a tube package including her original oil on canvass paintings arrived at a gallery in Manhattan for a show (she had not sold the paintings as of yet). The tube had been cut open and the paintings were removed before arrival. UPS refused to deal with Mlinar as she was not the "shipper of record." The item was still not found after the lost goods claim was filed by Pak Mail, the third party retailer. Over one year later, Mlinar's paintings were sold as UPS lost goods by Cargo Largo. That and several other

sales catalogued and broadcast her name in association with the sale of the painting.

UPS filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint and argued that all the claims were preempted pursuant to Carmack. The Motion to Dismiss attached the shipping tariffs it had published pursuant to 49 USC 14706; in other words, the tariffs which state that UPS has no liability to third-party customers were now used by UPS as an attempt to limit its liability to Carmack recovery and to effectively preempt Mlinar's state law claims.

The Order of Dismissal was based upon the finding that all claims alleged against UPS were preempted by the Carmack Amendment.

The first opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal (authored by Judge C. Taylor and noting concurrence without opinion by Judge J. Ciklin and Associate Judge Michael Robinson) affirmed the dismissal of Appellant's four claims against the interstate-shipper. Concluding that none of the misconduct alleged on the part of UPS was separate and distinct from the course of shipment, the opinion held that the Petitioners claims fell within the scope of Carmack as stated in *Smith v. United Parcel Serv.*, 296 F.3d 1244, 1248 (11th Cir.2002). The opinion concluded that Petitioner's claims included separate harm only, which the Fourth District held did not create an exception to Carmack.

3

Petitioner filed a consolidated Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing en banc, and for certification of conflict with *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) and for certification as an issue of great importance.

The Motion argued that the original opinion failed to assess the actual misconduct alleged against UPS and instead, only discussed the allegations describing the harm Petitioner alleged that UPS's misconduct caused her career and her name. Petitioner argued that this failure to address the actual conduct of UPS rather than the harm caused to the Petitioner and the failure to assess the significance of the fact that UPS's tariffs did not include the Petitioner's claims rendered the opinion squarely in conflict with *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal entered an opinion denying the motions for rehearing and rearticulating its affirmance of the trial court dismissal of all of the claims; the second and present opinion notes some of the shared misconduct alleged on the part of both UPS and against co-conspirator Cargo Largo. The opinion does not, however, discuss the tariff issue or the misconduct which gave rise to the deceptive practice claim, the misconduct attributed to UPS alone. The opinion cited *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) as a case holding that Carmack did not preclude a claim based on separate harm and that the "separate harm" rule had been overruled by subsequent cases. The order granted the Petitioner's Motion for Certification of Conflict to the extent the opinion conflicted with *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).

Petitioner's brief on jurisdiction includes two arguments: First, that the opinion misconstrues and so conflicts with the second portion of *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 593(Fla. 5th DCA 2003), which allowed a breach of contract claim because the conduct occurring after the act of shipment was complete was necessarily separate and distinct from claims ordinarily preempted by Carmack. Second, the Fourth District opinion in this matter conflicts with the second portion of the opinion in *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590, 592 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), which held that tariffs excluding any liability on the part of a carrier to a particular claimant cannot be used by that carrier as the predicate to a Carmack defense against claims by a third party.

ARGUMENT

Dismissal of the Petitioner's claims of intentional misconduct on the part of UPS pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 14706, which preempts recovery for packages lost or

destroyed in the course of shipment, contradicts the entirety of caselaw regarding a Carmack exception, including and most significantly the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).

Jurisdiction is sought pursuant to 9.030(a)2(A)(iv) and (vi). The Fourth District opinion granting the Motion to Certify conflict and containing the affirmation for which the Petitioner seeks review was rendered by the District Court of Appeal on December 4, 2013. No Motion for Rehearing was filed. Petitioner filed her Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to Review Decision pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.120(c) via eDCA electronic filing on January 2, 2013, which was returned by the clerk for want of a certificate of service. A second Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to Review Decision was filed on January 3, 2013 and payment was sent via US Mail to the Clerk of the Florida Supreme Court with a copy of the Notice, as directed by the Clerk. This brief, filed on Monday January 13, 2013, is timely filed pursuant to 9.120(d).

A. UPS TARIFFS DENY ANY LIABILITY TO THE PROSPECTIVE CLASS, YET UPS CLAIMS THESE SAME TARIFFS ALLOW IT TO LIMIT ITS LIABILITY TO CARMACK RECOVERY ONLY

UPS bases its Carmack defense on the claim that Petitioner's recovery is preempted by Carmack, which would limit a shipper's recovery form the carrier to the declared value of a package and require such recovery to be sought in federal court. In *Braid*, the Fifth District noted that the Carmack defense would ordinarily preclude a claimants recovery for damage or loss of items once the carrier demonstrated the applicability of the defense; in order to demonstrate that the Carmack defense is sustainable, the carrier must demonstrate that the shipment was covered by published tariffs which would limit the carrier's liability to the shipper in accordance with Carmack. 49 USC 14706 (a)-(c). See *Rohner Gehrig Co. v. Tri-State Motor Transit*, 950 F.2d 1079 (5th Cir. 1992) as cited by *Braid Sales & Mktg. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003.) (The tariff is the instrument through which the carrier publishes the limitations on recovery that it will maintain if the shipper's property is lost or stolen.)

Petitioner argued that since the tariffs proffered by UPS as a predicate to the defense state that Petitioner and any customer of a third party retail shipment center are not the shippers of record and deny any liability to the customer for loss or damage to goods, that the tariffs could not now be used to limit UPS liability those customers to the stated Carmack liability. Carmack does not allow a carrier to deny liability. The purpose of Carmack preemption was to coordinate interstate carrier liability to allow shippers to recover damages in accordance with a declared value. See *Atlantic C. L. R. Co. v. Riverside Mills*, 219 U.S. 186, 205 (U.S. 1911):

If it is to be assumed that the ultimate power exerted by Congress is that of compelling cooperation by connecting lines of independent carriers for purposes of interstate transportation, the power is still not beyond the regulating power of Congress, since without merging identity of separate lines or operation it stops with the requirement of oneness of charge, continuity of transportation and primary liability of the receiving carrier to the shipper, with the right of reimbursement from the guilty agency in the route.

Petitioner argued that limiting liability to Carmack recovery when UPS's tariffs first sought to deny any such liability would not only create an impractical legal irony, it would be completely unjust as Petitioner claimed that the third-party exclusion was the vehicle through which UPS and Cargo Largo operate a complex fencing operation designed to guarantee Cargo Largo so many instances of valuable "unclaimed" lost goods, that UPS could effectively hand over its entire lost goods processing operations to its wholesaler, free of charge. The present opinion in this matter simply fails to address this issue and to assess whether UPS met its duty to establish the predicate of its defense; *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590, 592, (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), squarely assesses issue.

B. ALLEGATIONS INCLUDED PRE AND POST-SHIPMENT INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT INCLUDING BAIT AND SWITCH, CONSPIRACY WITH A WHOLESALER, AND MISAPPROPRIATION OF IDENTITY

Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers, 838 So. 2d 590, 593, (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) also held that a second claim based on the alleged breach of an oral

contract to repair the damages was not precluded. The Fifth District paraphrased the arguments before it as follows

"Braid argued that since the claim was based upon conduct occurring after the shipment was completed, it was not legally precluded by the Carmack Amendment. R & L responded that dismissal was warranted because the Carmack Amendment provided the sole remedy and preempted all other federal or state claims and remedies relating to the loss or damage to cargo, citing to Rini v. United Van Lines, Inc., 104 F.3d 502 (1st Cir.1997)."

The *Braid* plaintiff argued that whether the claim escaped Carmack preemption depended upon the conduct alleged against the carrier. Essentially, the carrier stated that since no separate harm occurred, there was no recovery regardless of whether the conduct resulting in that harm was separate from the shipment. The Fifth District held to the contrary.

Admittedly, *Braid's* holding (*Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 at 593 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) is unfortunately worded as though the Fifth District held that the claim was not preempted both because the harm alleged was separate from the loss or damage to the good as well as because the conduct was distinct. However, as noted by the *Braid* defendant, the damage alleged was in fact the damage to the goods; therefore, it is clear that *Braid's* exception was based not on the nature of the harm (which was indistinct), but the conduct (which was because it occurred after the shipment was complete).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal decision in this case recognized that Carmack allows recovery based upon "separate and distinct misconduct," stating as follows on page 3 of the attached opinion:

Situations may exist, however, in which the Carmack Amendment does not preempt all state and common law claims. *Smith v. United Parcel Serv.*, 296 F.3d 1244, 1248 (11th Cir.2002). Claims that are "based on conduct separate and distinct from the delivery, loss of, or damage to goods escape preemption." *Id.* at 1249. For example, "no doubt exists that if a UPS driver intentionally assaulted and injured" a plaintiff, the Carmack Amendment would not preempt the cause of action.

However just as the Fourth District's opinion fails to discuss how the tariffs satisfy Carmack prerequisites, it never discusses the misconduct alleged against UPS, including its deliberate misuse of those tariffs and its agreements with the co-conspirators in this case. Indeed, some of the conduct alleged against UPS is discussed by the present opinion, including the same misconduct also alleged against Cargo Largo, who is not a carrier of goods at all. Although this shared misconduct cannot be fairly stated as inherent to the shipment and delivery of goods, this is the only misconduct assessed by the present opinion, which held that it was part of the course of shipment. In addition to that fact, the opinion does not assess the timing of any of the alleged misconduct, which is alleged to have begun well before this fated shipment began and is alleged to have ended nearly two years later

when the painting, which was not in the packing tube when UPS completed the shipment of Mlinar's packed tube to its New York destination, wound up being sold at auction and by sticker sale as a UPS lost item a year later.

STATEMENT OF IMPORTANCE

In this case, the UPS conspiracy is perpetuated by the fact that its tariffs SPECIFICALLY exclude Petitioner and shippers who bring packages to UPS through retail centers. The opinion, if allowed to stand, would give UPS license to first continue its use of tariffs to deny any liability to the putative class and to then use Carmack as a defense for any liability that might arise outside of Carmack. Such a holding would not only contradict the reasonable holding of *Braid Sales & Marketing. v. R & L Carriers*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), which held that carriers could not limit liability by a contract which fails to even acknowledge liability, it would allow UPS license to claim the unfettered right to coopt any artist's or individual's work and to mass market it to the world as though the artist endorsed the sale.

DATED this 13th day of JANUARY, 2014.