#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC14-54

Lower Case Nos.: 4D12-1332; 502008CA036246XXXXM

IVANA VIDOVIC MLINAR,

Petitioner,

v.

UNITED PARCEL SERVICES, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S JURISDICTIONAL ANSWER BRIEF

Evan S. Gutwein
Florida Bar No.: 0058741
egutwein@hamiltonmillerlaw.com
HAMILTON, MILLER & BIRTHISEL, LLP
Attorneys for Respondent
150 Southeast Second Avenue, Suite 1200
Miami, Florida 33131
Phone 305-379-3686 ·Fax 305-379-3690

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts exceeds the scope of the Fourth District's opinion<sup>1</sup>. Respondent offers the following as an alternative.

Petitioner Ivana Vidovic Mlinar is an artist who created two works of art. *Mlinar v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, 129 So. 3d 406, 408 (Fla. 4th DCA 2013). Her husband took the paintings to Pak Mail, a third party retailer, to be shipped via United Parcel Service from Florida to New York. When the container arrived in New York, it was empty. *Id.* The duct tape had been sliced and the paintings had been removed. *Id.* Petitioner reported the loss to UPS and Pak Mail. *Id.* Months later, Pak Mail offered Petitioner \$100 for the missing contents of the package. *Id.* 

At some point, UPS sold the paintings to Cargo Largo, UPS's lost goods contractor. *Id.* Cargo Largo later auctioned the paintings. *Id.* An individual named Aaron Anderson purchased one of the paintings at the Cargo Largo auction. About two years after Petitioner lost possession of the paintings, she received a

Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction contains arguments and facts that are outside the scope of Rule 9.120(d) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Specifically, Petitioner includes facts that are not set forth in the Fourth District's opinion. Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction also goes beyond addressing solely the issue of jurisdiction and argues the merits of the underlying case. Only those relevant facts stated within the four corners of the opinion under review are to be considered by this Court in justifying invocation of this Court's jurisdiction. *See Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). While Respondent strongly disagrees with Petitioner's arguments on the merits, this Brief will address only the threshold issue of discretionary jurisdiction raised by the underlying District Court opinion.

the paintings at the Cargo Largo auction sale. *Id*. He also informed her that the other painting was auctioned in the same lot but that he did not know the identity of the purchaser. *Id*. He eventually acquired the other painting and placed advertisements online in which he offered to sell or trade both paintings. *Id*.

Based on the above facts, Petitioner asserted four state law claims in her complaint: Conversion (Count I—against UPS, Cargo Largo, and Pak Mail), Profiting by Criminal Activity (Count II—against UPS, Cargo Largo, and Pak Mail), Unauthorized Publication of Name or Likeness (Count III—against UPS, Cargo Largo, and Anderson), and a claim under Florida's Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (Count IV—against UPS). The trial court dismissed all of Petitioner's claims against Respondent, United Parcel Service, Inc., ruling that the claims were preempted by the federal Carmack Amendment to the Interstate Commerce Act, 49 U.S.C. § 14706. *See Mlinar*, 129 So. 3d at 409.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's state law claims because the claims arose from Respondent UPS's failure to deliver her package and were therefore preempted by the Carmack Amendment<sup>2</sup>. *Id.* at 406. Petitioner attempted to escape Carmack Amendment preemption by alleging that her state law causes of action were separate and distinct from the loss or damage to a package during shipment. But because the wrongs sued upon all stemmed from UPS's loss of Petitioner's package, the various state law claims were likewise preempted. The Fourth District's opinion, relying upon well-settled federal case law, held:

- Petitioner's claim against UPS for conversion was preempted because it was predicated on UPS's failure to deliver Petitioner's goods;
- UPS's alleged unauthorized use of Petitioner's likeness in the resale of her paintings flowed directly from UPS's course of conduct in failing to deliver the paintings; and
- Petitioner's claims against UPS alleging fraud and deceptive conduct relating to the formation of the shipping contract are so closely related to the performance of the contract that they too are preempted.

#### *Id.* at 410-12.

In reaching this decision, the Fourth District applied the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals test for whether claims fall outside the scope of Carmack

The Carmack Amendment limits a carrier's liability for property loss to "a value established by written or electronic declaration of the shipper or by written agreement between the carrier and shipper if that value would be reasonable under the circumstances surrounding the transportation." *Mlinar v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.,* 129 So. 3d 406, 408 (Fla. 4th DCA 2013) (quoting 49 U.S.C. § 14706(c)(1)).

preemption, explaining that "separate and distinct conduct *rather than injury* must exist for a claim to fall outside the preemptive scope of the Carmack Amendment." *Id.* at 410 (quoting *Smith v. United Parcel Serv.*, 296 F.3d 1244, 1248 (11th Cir. 2002)). In *Braid Sales & Marketing, Inc. v. R & L Carriers, Inc.*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) the Fifth District Court of Appeals also explored the scope of Carmack Amendment preemption. Under the *Braid Sales* test, a claim alleging an injury independent from the loss or damage to the goods is not preempted by the Carmack Amendment. 838 So. 2d at 593.

Petitioner asks this Court to invoke discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution based upon an alleged conflict between the test for determining the applicability of federal preemption that was used in the Fourth District's opinion and the test used in the Fifth District's decision in *Braid Sales*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). Accepting jurisdiction is an unnecessary utilization of the Court's time and resources because there is no conflict between the Fourth District's opinion in this case and *Braid Sales*. In fact, Petitioner herself is unable to distinguish between the very tests she claims are in conflict.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioner's assertion that the Fourth District's holding herein conflicts with the Fifth District's decision in *Braid Sales* is meritless. The Fourth District's decision does nothing more than apply well-established law to a particular set of facts—facts that point unmistakably to the very result the Fourth District reached.

This Court should decline review of this case because there is no actual conflict between the Fourth District's opinion and *Braid Sales*. Petitioner is unable to distinguish the purportedly conflicting tests in the Fourth District's opinion herein and Braid Sales. To wit, Petitioner admits that "Braid's holding...is unfortunately worded as though...the claim was not preempted both because the harm alleged was separate from the loss or damage to the good as well as because the conduct was distinct." (See Pet'r Jurisdictional Br. at p. 9). According to Petitioner, "Braid's exception was based not on the nature of the harm (which was indistinct), but the conduct (which was because it occurred after the shipment was complete). (Id.) But Petitioner's interpretation of Braid Sales, requiring "separate and distinct conduct," is the same standard applied by the Fourth District here when it held that "separate and distinct conduct rather than injury must exist for a claim to fall outside the preemptive scope of the Carmack Amendment." Mlinar, 129 So. 3d at 410.

Further, this is not the type of case that requires this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to resolve an important legal issue. The Fourth District's decision is consistent with applicable case law from other federal district courts and the Eleventh Circuit. It correctly applies decisional law to the facts and issues presented to it. The facts alleged would inevitably lead to the same result under the Fifth District's analysis in *Braid Sales* because, semantics aside, both the harms and conduct sued upon flow directly from the loss of Petitioner's paintings while in transit. Because no grounds for jurisdiction exist, this Court should deny review.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Fourth District's decision merely restates well-settled principles of law; no purpose would be served by reviewing a case that reiterates established doctrines governing an interstate carrier's liability for property loss.

It is clear from the four corners of the opinion that the Fourth District followed and correctly applied long-standing legal principles when it concluded that Petitioner's claims (as presented through her varied allegations) were preempted by federal law; namely, the Carmack Amendment to the Interstate Commerce Act, 49 U.S.C. § 14706. The Fourth District's opinion leaves no conflict upon which jurisdiction may be premised and is in keeping with the well-settled breadth of authorities presented by both parties. As explained above, the Fourth District concluded that Petitioner's claims all arose from UPS's failure to deliver her package. This conclusion is consistent with both well-settled federal

law and Florida's Fifth District precedent interpreting that federal law. *See Circle Redmont, Inc., v. Mercer Transp. Co.*, 795 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (noting that the United States Supreme Court has interpreted the scope of the Carmack Amendment's preemption very broadly).

Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief is scarce of case law supporting the preemption test she claims the Fifth District applied in *Braid Sales* and the Fourth District should have used in *Mlinar*. Both *Braid Sales* and *Mlinar* generally rely on the same body of federal case law regarding Carmack preemption. As the wellsettled breadth of authorities hold: "The Carmack Amendment is designed to be the sole means of imposing liability against interstate shippers for loss or damage to the property they transport. It is not meant to co-exist with, but to preempt, state means of imposing liability arising out of the shipment of goods." Bishop v. Allied Van Airlines, No. 08-cv-2170-T-24-MAP, 2008 WL 5111302, at \*1 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 4, 2008) (citing Smith, 296 F.3d at 1246); see also Adams Express Co. v. Croninger, 226 U.S. 491, 505 (1913) (Congress has completely preempted state regulation of the liability of common carriers; "the national law is paramount and supersedes all state laws as to the rights and liabilities" of carriers); Straley v. Thomas Logistics, LLC, No. 10-cv-2, 2010 WL 2231399, at \*2 (W.D.N.C. Mar. 18, 2010) (stating "[t]here is little to no room to argue in this district that the

Carmack act has left any rock unturned in the state law arsenal of tort claims, including claims for intentional torts").

As the Court noted in *Rotemi Realty, Inc. v. Act Realty Co.*, 911 So. 2d 1181, 1188 (Fla. 2005) the doctrine of stare decisis counsels courts to follow precedents unless there has been a significant change in circumstances after the adoption of the legal rule. Petitioner has failed to show any significant change in circumstances. As such, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction and apply the doctrine of stare decisis which provides stability to the law and to the society governed by that law. *Id.* 

# II. The Fourth District's decision does not conflict with *Braid Sales & Marketing, Inc. v. R & L Carriers, Inc.*, 838 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).

While a decision certified as being in direct conflict under Article V, § 3(b)(4) does not need to "expressly" conflict with another appellate decision, there still must be an actual conflict in the decisions of the district courts. *See Department of Law Enforcement v. House*, 678 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1996). Although conflict is certified by the Fourth District to the extent its opinion conflicted with *Braid Sales*, this Court is not required to reach the merits of the case simply because of that certified conflict. This Court may decide that the District Court decision at issue is distinguishable and there is no conflict to be resolved. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Lovelace*, 928 So. 2d 1176 (Fla. 2006) (discharging an earlier granted

review based on the certified conflict); *Renaud v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 2006) (declining to exercise discretionary review of certified conflict because no actual conflict exists); *Summit Claims Management v. Lawyers Express Trucking*, *Inc.*, 944 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 2006) (same).

Petitioner argues the Fourth District's opinion contradicts the second portion of *Braid Sales*, 838 So. 2d 590 even though three of the cases cited by *Braid Sales* were explicitly acknowledged and rejected by the Fourth District's opinion. *See Mlinar* 129 So. 3d at n.1 (explaining that "these cases are in the minority and two of them have been disapproved"). Therefore, *Braid Sales* is not in conflict with the Fourth District's opinion but rather, *Braid Sales* is partially premised upon case law that has been subsequently disapproved of or called into question by other courts.

In addition, the *Braid Sales* opinion refers to the requirement that carriers must file all tariffs with the Interstate Commerce Commission before any limitation of liability can apply to the recovery of damages in Carmack Amendment The ICC was abolished in 1995 by the Interstate Commerce claims. Commission Termination Act of 1995. See 40 U.S.C. § 10762 (1994) (repealed 1995), which, inter alia, relieved carriers of their obligation to file tariffs with the government. Today, carriers such as UPS must make their tariffs available to any shipper upon request. 49 U.S.C. §§ 13710(a)(1), 14706(c)(1)(B). This fact alone distinguishes Braid Sales from the case at hand. Petitioner's argument regarding the UPS tariff cannot serve as a proper basis for this Court's jurisdiction. The argument is inconsistent with federal law. Werner Enters., Inc. v. Westwind Mar. Int'l, Inc., 554 F. 3d 1319 (11th Cir. 2009) (where a third party enter into a shipping contract with a carrier on behalf of the goods' owner, recovery is limited by the tariff). The tariff argument was also not addressed by the Fourth District's opinion.

Moreover, Petitioner herself is unable to distinguish between the very standards she claims are in conflict. She cites *Braid Sales* as holding that "conduct occurring after the act of shipment was complete was necessarily separate and distinct from claims ordinarily preempted by Carmack." (See Pet'r Jurisdictional Br. at p. 9). Yet, the Fourth District's decision and the Eleventh Circuit precedent cited therein also look for "separate and distinct conduct" when assessing exceptions to Carmack Amendment preemption. To wit, the Fourth District observed "[c]laims that are 'based on conduct separate and distinct from the delivery, loss of, or damage to goods escape preemption." *Mlinar*, 129 So. 3d at 410.

Applying these standards, the Fourth District ultimately held that Petitioner's state law claims were sufficiently tied to the loss or damage to her goods and did not fall outside the preemptive scope of the Carmack Amendment. *Id.* at 410-12. Thus, whether analyzed under the preemption language used by the Fourth District here or by the Fifth District in *Braid Sales*, the ultimate result reached is the same because Petitioner's claims all stem from the loss of her artwork during shipment.

#### CONCLUSION

Respondent United Parcel Services, Inc. respectfully submits that the exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction is unnecessary in this case.